Hersh and The Samson Option- 2

The farthue ,If get into the book the more interested I become in what it reveals !
about Hersh and his objectives and the accunulating evidence that rather than a reporting
job, at which he is superb, it is a political argument disguised as a reporting job.

Of interest because J ohn MoCone was CIA head at the time of the JFE assassination and
its investigation is %fﬂe’rsh begin his Chapter 6 with an account of iicCone as a partisan
and incomplete leaker. (pages T1 ff) Hoover caught him doing that with consummate irrespon-
sibility over the ffbrications of Gilberto Alvarado Ugarte — bber which Ambassador Fann
was well on his way to starting World War II when wheeled in.

In discussing the ultra Admiral lewis Straus, ﬂ?c head, and p\:gbtra}aing him as blindly
p¥o Israel, he reports that Straus favored raising mo’ngy:”:gm 1933, to rescttle endangered
Jews in Africa. While correctly pointing out this impriuged on the rights of those living
on the land to be bought for this purpose, Hersh does not note how it parallels an ejély
Hitler scheme for ridding Europe of its Jews.

Without recognition of how it can influence his argument that Straus was blinded by
his Jewishness, Hersh says on 86 that he “privately was in favor of a nuclear-armed Israel"
while saying two pages later that he "remained hosilte to Zionism ell of his life," Can it
be that Simaus was motivated to want Bsrael to bhave the nuclear weapon because Straus was
so Zionist?

lersh notes on 89 that in the CIA thers was fear of the loyalty of Jews so they were
excluded from dealing with "Israeli issues inside CIA headquarters"and that for many years
no Jews vere assifned td Israel. He quotes a high-ranlding CIA Jews as saying years later
that "every fucking Jews in the CIA was in accounting of legal."

On 96 Hersh says, quoted in full, that JFK was told at a Hyannis gathering,"everybody
kmows the reputation of your fifther concerning Jews and Hitler." He hqg a footnote on that
page saying that during the period in which he fot his education JFK had "flew close Jewish
/l(riends,“ which he says was not atypical for wealthy Irish Catholics, but he has no foot-
note saying what the "reputation" is that the father got "concerning Jews a.uql Hitler,"

On 97 he quotes lf'e;por‘cer and JFK friend Charles Bartlett as quoting JFK as raying that
Jews had told him that in return for "paying" his "bills" theyfmnted control over his
Hiddle ¥ast policy." Perhaps true, although nothing about it in his spare notes. But if true
is it unusual in any way — othert than being attributed to Jews?

Hersh quotes Floyd Cufler, an American expert after a trip to Israel's Dimona nuclear
operation as saying "&'hey were terrified that they'd be bombed. I was asked by an Israe]; to
tise the question? of an American -Amerjean nuclear wmbrella."

If Hersh does not eee any connec'ion between the refusal to guarantee Israel against
muclear attack and its decision to achieve its oun nuclear protection he is pli_nd., !ﬂ;he /74;.}
blindness extending to hiu index, This %s: the third such (unindexed}(m;tayéo? 1?)’ ‘i:h;.:' point.
Hersh talls about Admiral Straus as proylsrael while anti-Zionist nnd as ¥In favor of a 1
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nuclear—-armed Israel" but Hersh never comnects the two, the US refus:a.‘l.oto ulzﬁm%auxzrug}‘??; »
protection an Israel's resulting quest for its ovm nuclear W?i:ection. Chgy, é;]aﬂ. 0vCRul

J;N/seeming torgue against providing thits nuclear protections Hersh quotes Culler as
asking, "Would the United States initiate nuclear war to protect any country in the Middle
East, or India, or Palkistan, or Argentina? He says that Culler said, "we were all in a
bind. We have to be careful in assigning blame. 1y may he a story but there is no right
or Wronge" right

" donit lmow wlfy Horeh inclulded the n or wrong part of the quote unless he
fear/A strong reaction from omitting it but it applies to him and he does blame in his
writing.

Horeovery was the question bf initiating a nuclear war to protect any country?

Id not thsd—'-ﬁhf&;iﬂ.ﬁshield“ congjet that the promise to retaliate will discourage
another from initiating a nuclear war?

I am not a third of the way through the book and I wonler more and more what ife
pelled Herah to do this book rather then one on many other subjects available to him.
I continue to wonder about his overt bias and his dishonety in the bock.About hime

Tor example, his lengihy footnote on 88 reporting that out planes regularly overflew.
and photographed Nazi extermination camps, his plural but he mentioned only Auschwitz by
name, It has been photographed at leantr')’O ‘l:imesl.l Showing "four large complexes of gas
chambers and crematoriums...Bodies were bing burdied in trenches or burned in large open
pitf. Some of the photos showed victims being marched to their deaths, while others showed
prisoners being processed for slave labor." Hs does not 83‘5\. that thisslave labor was per-
flormed at the IG Farben "synthetic oil and rubber complex" only five miles away. He does say
that at Auschewitz 12,0002 were Idilled daily. And instead of explaining this disclosure, new
to me, hewmeks to justify its being ignored by saying that photo-intedpreters were not
available enough and infeormed enough to make this out. But there was no such need because
before then the death camps and frematoria were well reported by eyewitnesses who were ig-
nored by the allies. With the knowledge that ctisted these pictures were confirmation of what
had been reported and ignored. I think they also refute the claim made to explain away not
bombing the railroad track to prevent the inflax of more to be exterminated: it as obvious
that the slave labor was working at the ts engeged in essential nazi war prodyc;‘hion.
There was this additional reason for bombing at least the means of getting the slave labor
there. Hersh also discloses that éombers flew over at least 30 times. So there was plenty
of opportunity to at the same time reduce nazi warmsupplies and human fuel for the
crematoria. It did not even require special flightd- there vere—fais 30+.

This is the Hersh of My Lai? &% is it a Heine-like Jew, a !iﬂ:mting Jew or one with
some specidl ¢ ‘ax of a difl'erent kind to gring? IS it only that he is anti-Israel?

o~
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I'Igrah begins his Chapter 9 by reporting that when sennedy could not get De-Gurion to
say what he wanted him to say he —f’fézﬁ.g&gﬂ "to help get Ben—Gurion...OIﬂ" of office." The first
step war to ipvite a political rival, Golda I'Iejeﬂtv a lohlg visit at Palm Beach. (Fapge 117)

Hersh says that JFK "made an extraordinary pribate commnitment to Israel's defense,"Ve
are asking the cooperation of Israel....not unfriendly to Israel; but in order to help
more effectively I think it is quite clear that in case of an invasion the United States?"
would come to the support of Israel..."117-8)

As Hersh fails %o note, as a "private commitment" this had no meaning after JFK was ~
out of office and need not have while he was President. Moreover, depending on the capabili-

ties of any invading force(s), couing to lsrael's aid after invasion had to be re
b%Israeli‘s as perhaps being too late. [5"“‘,9““- wilh ,r‘]p Whete b Ay W et d hone 1"?’-)

&nd, of course, Israel was invaded and it got no military forces from the US to help

it and the wars demoustrated that help could always be too lates
It is not easy to belicve that the US would go to wat against the world's pettol-
eum monopoly or would have then.

When Egypt, Syria and Irgq combined in the A#ab Federation Ben-Gurion proposed that the
US abd USSR jointly and publicly dec ]:re the territorital integrity of every Middle Eastern
state. JIK would not, When SenGurion then wrote him, "my people have a right to exist ...
and this efistence is in danger" JFK again refl x;.sed to sign a security pact. This told
B-G's party te get rid of him, Hersh says.

In discussing LBJ's closer ties to Jews and stronrer feelings and the reason for them—
his trip to a crema'boria\-’ Hersh says what I do not recall kmowing, that Arich Leinsdbrf
was about to be deported by the US when LBJ prevented that,

Hersh does not evaluate this "extradrdinary private commit ment" he s:ys JFK gave
B-G, He does not note that when Israel was invaded the US did not get militariy involvad,
as JIK promised, and he has no observation about the US refusal to put any gia.rand:iea on
paper and how Israel could interpret that and why the US didn't.

X588 Yet without comment and without any notes /fﬁis is part of Hersh's argxmeﬁxp;ﬁ.én-
support ol Israel not developing the bomb for its own protection.

L5 it not obvigus that if JFK {id not dare put his promise in writing there was
little chance of his daring to impliment 1t? Hersh has no observation on whether or not
this could or should have made theee those Israelis determined .to develop their bomb
willing or unwilling to give the prdmise (any real mea.utng{r t;;'mf:;i'ael.

Lé;uptar 10 is the title chapter, The Samson Option. Hw writes it to give the impression
this is how those Israelis who wanted the bomb actually thought and spoke of th.a}-’mtti‘em.ty
but this is not true: "In its place, argued the nuclear advocates, would be thé€ Samson
Option. Samsop, according to the Bible...cried out,'let my soul die with the Philistines."

(page 137)He consludes +is paragraph with a similar sugpestion, "For Israel's nuclear
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nuelear advocates, the Samson Option became another way f?fé fﬁ);:l}ng. 'Never again'." Here
he has a footMote +to a Podhoretz Commentary esgay in 1-rhich,3so’ gffers the opinion that
i% there were a war in which Iurael was hopelessyéost it would do as Samson did, not do

a Masada of mass suicide. The closest thing to a scource in his notes is '"For a discussion
of the Samson and Mrsada psychologies see "A Psycho-—@stozy of Zionism"...." The hunber
of books in his text and sourfes is considerable, so I wonder how he had the time for a
book with this title, or whether he wgs attggcted to it by its title.

While as * indi(%r{ed. he at no point giwes any explanation of why those Israelis who
opted the nuclear weapon did so and at no point makes any effort to state what the nucleal"

interest/situation was in the Muslim world, from time to time a bit creeps in. For example
at the beginning of this chapter he quotes a Dayan article published 4/ 63 or well before
Igracl had made any real progress on having a nuclear bomb, a.\szurging imk the Israeli arms
indfstry to keep pace with Bgyptian President Gumal Abdel Nasser's effort to buiddd nuc-
clear weapons."(page 129)He has not het given his reader any real understanding of Nasser
as a person or leader or of his policies. But without that, is it not enough that Nasser
sought the bomb for Israel to feel that at least as a deterent it also needed the bomb? No
discussion of this by Hersh. ﬁo mention, )

On 158 Hersh says that "E major complication in the debate (over whether to develop -
the bomb by Israel), seemingly, was the Arab and Israeli press which routinely published
exaggerated accounts of each side'sweapons of mass estruction., In Israel there were
alarmist accounts of Chinese support for an Egyptian nuclear bo mbe +e.s" Hersh has no
single quotation or citation of any such stories in the Israeli press. But do not the sub-
sequent wars reflect that the ArabB'?rare vert well supplied with advanced weaponry, es-
peciallt&, planes and tanks? Was not the USSR stocking them all? And hewote this after he
lmev that the Scuds had exploded over Israel in the gulf war and aftepy it was well known
that China and other povers e North Korean were stocking Syria with missiles of longer
rengs than the Sculls. Beng=eiber Saudi Arsbia optained from the US planes that could ensble
it to bomb Greece, that muc Zoaded ranges

It is notf??nly Nasser about whom Hersh gives his reader not a word to this point,
through Ehapte'r. H’c has nothing on any of them, the Saddams, whose name is not mentioned in
the boolk once, or- Asad, also not mentioned((}orrection, there is a single mention of Saddam
Hussein on page 317, his epilogue, where he says that on the secind day of the war Saddam
lgunched 8 scuds at Israel) Uf ging Iuscein, on 289 he sz;ys it was Ariel Sharon's hope to
sk o/erthrow him and malee Jorden a Palestinian state.No mention of Gadhafi under any
spelling of which I kmow.Libya is not mentioned at all, not its tyrant or its OBV arms and
plants. None of this and more if I searched, I'm surc, in a book supposedly examining the
Israel development and bossession of nuclear weapons, ald with the title yet oi‘“‘I‘hs Samson
Optioﬁ\ so clearly cribbed from what app ars to be a worlk of amateur shrinkery published in
1975 by th){preatigious house of Mason J, Charter, in New York!
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His chapter 11, "Playing the Game," is on Angleton. L% has rem-.:rkablﬂ few sources
and none for some direct quotations. Some of it is new to me and I'd like to know the
source® Ineluding of direct quotations. What made me wonder is that much as he knows
about Angleton he has no source for his statement that it was Angleton who received the
CIA intelligence on Israel. lle was head of counterintelligence, not intelligence, and nor-
mally intelligence would be routed to that component,

In Chapter 12, "The Ambassador," he has brief mention of the Israeli attack on our
apy ship the Liberty. He quotes a cablefrom our ambassador saying,“l'lrge strongly that we '
8o avoid publicity. (As Israel h ad sought to do,) [Liberty's] prosimity to scene could
feed Arab suspicions of U.S.glsreal collusion s o. (his omission) Israelis obviously
shocked by error and tender sincere apologiesi. (Pages 166}'3)

On tlmm begins this short section saying that the Liberty, a naval
intelligence ship,"had been monitoring Middle East communications traffic in international
waters off tho coast of Israel and had been identified as an Anerican ship before the
attackesss" In the text Hersh has no explanation of the attack but in a footnote - on Clark
Clifford! - it quotes him as not crediting Israel's cl?i.m of error. (Weither do I!) But
having said that the ship flew an American flag and had been identified as American and -
then that the "error" explanation is not credible when he says nothing else it is adeli-
berate attack on Israel. He quoyes the Ambasgsador as saying that Arabs could suspect
collusion with Iurael but says nothing at all about the ship monitoring Israeli communi-
cations when Israel was involved in a war in which he oguld be wiped out. (It was on the
third day of tlxa/éwar) The Israeli pilots had to assume that their communicetions were
being monitored and that it waes by or for their enemies and even had to wonder whether
it was a US ship or an Arab ship flying the US flag. The ship had no pusiness being there
on such a mission without arrenging for the Israelis to know why it was there and pers-—
suading it that it was not spying on Israel's communicationss Avoiding the incitation
against Israel he published would have required bt one sentence and the book pad plenty
of room for that.

Redumed 1/21 I see no point in contiing with long details or comments and 1'll make
fewer. But I connot omit m“M’ré‘ Zor the US not to keep a President's promise;
the US "failed to respond to Nasser's closing of the Strait of Tiran and blockade of

Elat. Israeli foreipn ministry documentd showed that Dcfi_g:ht Eisenhower had promised in
writing after the Suez debacle #n 1956 thi&t the United States would use force, ifi nec-
essary, %o Heep the strait open. Israel called on Yohnson to keep that comuitment after
Hasser's blockade and felt Betrayed upon learning that the State Department considered
Eisenlower's comnitment to have expired with Biscnhower left office in early 1961. Only ™.
a treaty ratified by the U.S. Senate was binding on subsequent administrationSeess"

Yet as noted earlier, Hersh had the exact opposite position re a JFK promise.

A
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This was, as he says, a month bofore the Six-Day war — aB he says - and he does not
say that it did or eould trigger that war,x€h or whether what Eg:ypt did was an act of war.

Without comment or explanation, he reports that the U%"embargoed all armg deliveries
to Israel for 135 dayssessswhile the Soviets continued to resupply"flwir allies, the Arabs.

This had no bearing on any Lsraeli eflort to develop The Yomb?0r belief it had to?

llg even lies, and it is a lie, in the very beginning oé Chapter 15, to cover the
perfidy of Albion. He refers to "the Jewish struggle after Womld War II against the Briti_sh
mandatory power in Palestine, The British authorities had angered Dakid Ben Burion and his
followers by insfsting that they adher to the striet limitations on Jewish immigration to
Palestine that were set in 1939, after three years of Arab revolts." In fact the Baitish
refused to permit the number of Jews within those "strict limitationsi to enter Palestine.
He melds time, treating before and after World War II as one period and in this makes no
mention of the fact that those denied permission to emigrate from Europe within the quota
were incindepated by Hitler and as of that era has what came after the war, "the outgunned
members of the llagannsh, the Jewish underground, began the inevitable guerrilla war
against British troops."(195) This is more reprehensible because in the priod he omits,
of the Warp as with World War I, Palestinian Jews fought valiantly with the Lritish while
most of the Arabs of the areas were behind Hitler.

T‘kz'ﬂ is not sloppy writing, Hergh is not a sloppy writer. It is a deliberate deception

and misrepresentation. Moreover, as he may say later, "the underground" did not consist

only of the llagannahe
Resumed 1/23= In reading his account of the 1973 war in his "Nuclear Blackmail" chapter
pagesﬂ 225 £f Iwas surprised to note that he uvoided giving any meaningful account of the
remarkable military performace of ‘l:he surprised and unmobilized Israe¥ forced. I then
remembered that he handled th(; ¥oxix 1967 war the same way. To me this is surprising for
a number of reasons, including that it could be’un arpument that Israel did not need The
Bomb. It would have taken only a few sentences to give his readers an idea of the remarkable
military performance of the grcatly outnumbered and under-equipped Isragli forces so fhat

other than his arrument for their not having the bomb the reader could learn more about the
actifalities oi that area and that dispite. Ile does make passing refersnce one % Israel
crossing tho Suez canal but he at no point indicates the pumber of prisoners they took, the
plane, tanks and even armies they p’de::ta‘oyed or the asasualties. Withiout the epilo}ue he
added, in paperbaclc format tuis boulk has only 315 pages so space was nbt a consideration.
It.eoms as though in all respects save for maldng the bomb he intends to duprecate Israel
and just about all things Isracli,

His account of the Hixon/Kiesinger reaction to the nuclear blackmail by Israel Hersh
alleges 18 new to me and is interesting. e sams Israel said it would uss the b%nb, would
have to, if its conventional arms lost in the earliest moments of the 1973 war were not
5@ replaced,
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Hot until the very end does Hersh offer any explanation of or reason for Israel's
malcing the enormous and very dangerous (for it) imreg[— ment in having 11:5 own Pombe On
page 318, next to the last in his Epilogue, he refers to the Guif war/Gusrmtees meaning
"}ittle; no Jews had been ldlledby poison gas since Treblinka and Auschwitz and Israel,
after all, had built its bouwb so it would never have to depénd on the goodwill of others

ulhen the lives of Jews were being threatened.!

The very last sentence iM this epilopgue bearson this:"The Samson Optinion is no
longer the only nuclear option available to Israel."

In r1. n:?ter compgeting a very anti-Dsrael bock for which he was ertain to get
considerable internatlonal attention does he make even a gesture at putting the entire
book in auy context. lle does not give his reader or reviewers any reason to believe that
it was not 2ll 100v madness and irresponsibility until after his mind-poison has had its
effect.

Earlier I noted the inadequacy, an understatement, of his notes and citations of
sources and Marge degree their total abscnce where they appear to be most necessary.

This morning, my reading iucludin% his last tio c}mptera;_i—n his Epilggue and the Afterword
to the Vintage edition, I began to believe and I do believe that his book is reoally an
operation of essentially United States intelligence, with some involvement of some in
Israeli intelligence or opposition politics or both.

This would account for the absence of the urgently needed, in most cases, notes on
the unnamed and unidentified sources for most of the content of this book.

In this momm% ruudi‘r‘lﬁ. {.2 ,,EEI,Ch I did not bother to check the inaglequate notes,
and in looldng at them now see 1they take up less than a page, I came to believe that even
it he had a massive research staff it does not seem possible for him j;o ﬁaveAread all the
sources he does @ite, many in the text, not notes. and his briefl (page 329)Aclmcwledgements
do not refer to unydi-esearch help. :

Perhaps relevant, perhaps notf, his last two chapters are on the Pollard case in the
US and Vanunu's leaking of Iiraeli nuclear information in London, this a very brief chapter.
tluch of the Pollarymaterial has no direct connection, but i think I'd have included it}' too.
hmong the to me rémarkable bmissions iy his handling of that is any reference t%mevarity
of the sentence. ‘his also is consistent with }ﬁ.s serving US government interests in his books

With Hersh there is a precedent. Colby s&iected him or gll reporters to use in getting
and getting rid of Angleton and his disclosures he believed necessary for the health of the
CIA, for the disclosure of ite "family f]{r%i%g:" as I recall the phrase. “hile this may not
have happened, < believe it is the history of this book and it does explain the unquestioned
omissions/}oi’ many, possibl% most sources and the absence of citing dircct quotations of
coMbtroversial nature to any source.(

If this book did not have this origin, it would have been impossible without intelligency-
agency help the signs of which permcate the book. f__tf
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RAQ'S interference with the United Nation's

-weapons inspectors has been a persistent

theme in its sparring with the United States
and its allies. Earlier this month, the Iraqis
threatened U.N. inspectors’ flights into the coun-
try. But on Tuesday they announced a change of
heart, and on Thursday 52 technicians and staff
from the U.N.’s Special Commission on Iraq flew
in—the same day American planes bombed an
Iraqi radar station in the northern no-fly zone,

-The special commission's assignment is to
strip Irag of the weapons forbidden it under the
U.N. resolution that ended the gulf war nearly
two years ago and to set up a monitoring system
to ensure that none of those weapons comes
creéping back covertly. It has made substantial
progress. oo ; :
-Jraq's large and well-equipped nuclear program

was dismayingly close to building weapons. Now,
after much hide-and-seek with the Iraqgis, the
commission has dismantled much of it. While no
one rules out the possibility that there may be
further nuclear materials hidden, the United
Nations is fairly confident that Iraq no longer has
the capacity to produce them. Nearly all the
prohibited material discovered so far has been
successfully removed. f

more than 5,000 rockets loaded

stantial industrial plant. At one, it-has destroyed
with nerve.gas
and has neutralized about two-thirds of the stock.
of nerve agents. The second ‘plant, the. one to
incinerate the mustard gas, is now ready to-go

into full operation, but there’s a stock of several -

hundred tons of the gas to deal with,
Missiles with ranges of more than 150 kilome-
ters are prohibited to Iraq, and the commission

has destroyed everything it has found—not only -

the missiles but the launch vehicles, the guidance
systems and the factories to produce them. It’s .

ERRTAE T

clear that Iraq’ was alsoworking .on" biological

weapons, and while it had apparently ‘not pro-

duced much, the need for a careful}__watqh:,igl .

. obvious.

The commission is now beginning to set up its
long-term process of surveillance and verifica-
tion. To do that it needs, among other thingg, the -
full list of companies in other. countries - that

supplied Iraq with the means to make its illicit -

weapons, Iraq says it wants normal relations with
the United States and an end to the embargo on
its oil. Before that can even be considered, Iraq is
going to have to meet a series of conditions. First

among them is full acceptance of the U.N. resolu- e

tions and full cooperation with the U.N. special

*To deal with chemical weapons, the special

commission that is working with stubborn cour-
.commission has built two facilities, each a sub- : S,

age to carry them out.
This edifqrial from todey's Wx Post
The Bomb, Saddam and #&nd”the TN

hundred tons of nerwexg mugtard gas, 4

to me is a powerful argumen{ for Israel req},ty.mg ‘
1
destriyed 5,000 rockets loaded with naz;;%"q_ gas! And several
¥ ‘ 3 S .

\. \

rlus what?

and with who lmows what liuslims states having vhat in addition?
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70 THE SAMSON OPTION

istence of its nuclear reactor and continue its construction at
Dimona without any official French government help.

With the friendly summit behind him, Ben-Gurion did noth-
ing to change the status quo at Dimona. Neither did de Gaulle
or the French government. The privately owned French con-
struction firms and their employees maintained a vigorous
presence at Dimona until 1966 and continued to be well paid
under the existing contracts.

6

GOING PUBLIC

By December 1960, John W. Finney had been a re-
porter for three years in the Washington bureau of the New
York Times, covering nuclear issues and the Atomic Energy
Commission (AEC). Finney, hired away from United Press In-
ternational by bureau chief James A. Reston, was considered a
solid addition to the news staff—but he had yet to bust a big
one.

Finney's story came late that month and was, as Finney re-
called, “handed to me on a platter.”

The messenger was the Times's redoubtable Arthur Krock,
then the patriarch of Washington columnists, who approached
Finney’s desk late one afternoon. Krock was known to young
bureau reporters such as Finney for his remoteness and for
his daily long lunches with senior government officials at
the private Metropolitan Club, a few blocks from the White
House.

“Mr. Finney," Krock said, “I think if you call John McCone,
he'll have a story for you.” John A. McCone, a very wealthy
Republican businessman from California, was chairman of the
AEC, and Finney had established good rapport with him. Fin-
ney immediately understood the situation: “They were looking
to plant a story. I was the right person and Krock was the
intermediary.” Finney made the call and was promptly invited
to McCone's office.

“MecCone was mad, sputtering mad,” Finney recalled. “He
started talking and saying, ‘They lied to us."”

Who?
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“The Israelis. They told us it was a textile plant.”* There was
new intelligence, McCone said, revealing that the Israelis had
secretly built a nuclear reactor in the Negev with French help;
McCone wanted Finney to take the story public. Finney's sub-
sequent article, published December 19 on page one in the
Times, told the American people what Art Lundahl and Dino
Brugioni had been reporting to the White House for more than
two years: that Israel, with the aid of the French, was building
a nuclear reactor to produce plutonium. “Israel had made no
public announcement about the reactor, nor has she privately
informed the United States of her plan,” Finney wrote, faith-
fully reflecting what McCone told him. “There is an ill-con-
cealed feeling of annoyance among officials that the United
States has been left in the dark by two of its international
friends, France and Israel.”

Finney's story also noted that McCone had “questioned”
Israel about the new information but then added: “Mr.
McCone refused to go into details.” It was standard operating
procedure for official Washington: Finney got the story and
McCone was able to duck responsibility for giving it to him.

McCone's leak to Finney would be his parting shot as AEC
commissioner; a few days later he announced his resignation
on Meet the Press, the NBC Sunday television interview show.
The Finney story was being written that same day. Finney was

* There is no evidence that the lsracli government ever claimed to Washington that
the construction at Dimona was & textile plant. Those American and European diplo-
mats who inquired invariably were informed that Dimona was a research facility (usu-
ally for agriculture) or a chemical plant. McCone's ¢ at to Finney b widely
accepted as fact, nonetheless, and prompted a whimsical column by Art Buchwald in
the New York Herald Tribune on January 1o, 1gé1. Buchwald told of an Israeli cab driver
whao six months earlier had driven an American diplomat to Dimona in search of a suit,
at wholesale prices, from the textile plant. The rechnicians at Dimona decided to let
him in and pretend that “nothing was going on.” When the diplomat inquired about
buying & suit, he was told: * ‘Perhaps you would like something in cobalt blue? Or
maybe a nice uranium brown? How about & cosmic gray, double-breasred, with pin-
striped particles? " The diplomat was measured for his suit behind a six-foor wall of
lead, Anather scientist “rushed in with s Geiger counter, 2 slide rule, and rwo robot
arms. The hesd of the plant took @ pad and said: ‘Shimshon, call off the customer’s
measurements.’ Shimshon yelled out: “Ten, nine, eight, seven, six, five, four, three, two,
one, oif" " There were more measurements: * ‘Waist U-n3g; relatively good chest; there
is 3 hexagonal prism in the left shoulder; the right sleeve needs reactor,’” As the
diplomat left, Buchwald wrote, he was told: * ‘Please, kind sir, do not tell your friends
about us because we have oo much work now, and if we take any more orders the
plant will explode.” ™

GOING PUBLIC 73

convinced, as McCone wanted him to be, that the commission-
er’s anger stemmed from recently acquired knowledge, some
new intelligence about the Israelis. “McCone left me with the
impression,” Finney recalled, “that they’d suddenly appreci-
ated that the Israelis were lying to them.”

Finney paid a higher price than he realized for his big story;
the Eisenhower administration was using him and the New York
Times to accomplish what its senior officials were publicly ap-
prehensive about doing themselves—taking on the Israelis over
Dimona. McCone, as he did not indicate to Finney, had been
briefed regularly on the Israeli nuclear program after replacing
Lewis Strauss as AEC commissioner in July 19s8; there is no
evidence that Strauss, who also received regular briefings on
Dimona from Art Lundahl and Dino Brugioni, personally
shared his knowledge with McCone. But Lundahl and Bru-
gioni did. McCone, as AEC chairman, was a member of the
U.S. Intelligence Advisory Committee, the top-level group at
the time, and was, according to Walter N. Elder, a former CIA
official who was McCone's long-time aide, “in on the action
from the beginning. He sat at the table.”

What made McCone (who died in early 1991 after a long,
incapacitating illness) join the administration in suddenly re-
acting to intelligence that had been around for years? Walt
Elder, who wrote the still-classified history of McCone's CIA
tenure, described McCone as being committed to the concept
of nuclear nonproliferation and also aware of the convenient
fact that Eisenhower was a month away from ending his eight-
year reign in the White House. There could be no better time
to act. “He figured, T'm through and this is my duty—to let the
public know about this,' " said Elder. Another issue, he added,
was McCone’s frustration at the constant Israeli lying about
Dimona: “There was an impetus to do them in."”

By December 1960, work at Dimona had progressed to the
point where the reactor dome had become visible from nearby
roads in the Negev, and thus was more susceptible to being
photographed by military attachés. By this time, too, the U-2
program was in disarray: its decline began in May 1960, when
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program. In the fall of 1966, Strauss used his influence to get
Bergmann a two-month appointment as a visiting fellow at the
prestigious Institute for Advanced Studies in Princeton.
Strauss, who never graduated from college, had joined the in-
stitute’s board of trustees during World War II, and he contin-
ued to be one of its major contributors and fund-raisers. The
institute rarely dealt with chemists—its fellows are physicists
and mathematicians—but the rules were bent for Strauss. Berg-
mann was a bitter man ar that point; he had been forced to
resign his posts at the defense ministry and as head of the Is-
racli Atomic Energy Commission after his continued objec-
tions to Prime Minister Levi Eshkol's decision—in part
because of pressure from President Lyndon B. Johnson—to de-
lay full-scale nuclear weapons production.

“Strauss had nudged me about Bergmann,” recalled Carl
Kaysen, then the institute’s newly appointed director. “He told
me he was a very distinguished scientist.” It was only after
Bergmann arrived, Kaysen added, that he learned who he was
and whart he did. Bergmann wasn’t very busy, and “he would
come by and talk to me. It became clear that he and Strauss
were close, and also clear that he was working on [the Israeli
nuclear] weapons program. He was very relaxed about it.” It
was also obvious that Bergmann was telling Kaysen all that he
had told Strauss. Kaysen, a distinguished political economist
who had been deputy assistant to the President for national
security affairs, wasn't surprised to learn that Israel was inter-
ested in nuclear bombs, but it was a jolt to realize that Strauss
—seemingly so ambivalent about his Jewishness and so op-
posed to any spread of nuclear weapons technology—privately
was in favor of a nuclear-armed Israel,

Perhaps because Strauss’s political life was so mired in turbu-
lence, the public and the press never had a chance to get more
than a glimpse of his private feelings about being Jewish and
his guilt about not doing more in the 1930s to save Jews caught
up in the Holocaust.

There was really no secret abour his Jewishness—Strauss had
been a leader since 1938 of Congregation Emanu-El, the largest
and most prominent Reform synagogue in New York City. In
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1957, Eisenhower had briefly toyed with the idea of naming him
secretary of defense, but decided that his Jewishness would
cause too many problems with the Arab nations in the Middle
East. Yet Strauss's activities on behalf of a Jewish homeland
apparently were not known, not even to his close associates in
the Atomic Energy Commission. In his memoirs, published in
1962, Strauss wrote bitterly about the Nazi Holocaust and those
—including himself—who did not do enough: “The years from
1933 to the outbreak of World War II will ever be a nightmare to
me, and the puny efforts I made to alleviate the tragedies were
utter failures, save in a few individual cases—pitifully few.”
In 1933, Strauss had been asked by the American Jewish Com-
mittee to attend an international conference in London on the
Jewish plight. There he met Dr. Chaim Weizmann and listened
as the conferees agreed that an “astronomical sum” of money
from the United States must be raised to help resettle what
could be millions of Jews. Strauss, then fervently opposed to a
Jewish state in Palestine, was the only delegate to raise his
voice in dissent during the conference, a position he came to
regret. Six years later, Strauss would spend much time and
effort in an unsuccessful attempt to convince the British gov-
ernment to donate a large chunk of colonial Africa for resettle-
ment by European refugees, Jews and non-Jews alike, With the
Nazi blitzkrieg only months away, money was no longer an
object: Strauss and his American colleagues, who included Ber-
nard Baruch, the financier, were agreed that as much as $300
million could be raised.” It was too late; Strauss’s strong feel-
ings about that failure—and the failure of world leadership—
are explicit in his memoir: “The tidal wave of war swept over
the continents and across the ocean and a world in shock closed

* The goal was to convince the British to cede 1 tract of land in Kenya, Tanganyika
(now Tanzania), or northern Rhodesia (now Zimbabwe). Strauss carried a lerer 1o
London from Baruch in the late summer of 1939 noting that the land to be ceded in
Africa could be “cleaned up with modern equipment. The world has not always been
as clean as it is now. Our own country was full of morasses. Panama and Cuba were
cleaned up, snd Africa can be cleaned up, too. . . . [I]n this new land there would be a
place for tens of millions and they would be the best, the strongest and the most
courageous peoples. . . ." Missing from the Baruch-Strauss proposal is any thought or
concern about the Africans who lived in the areas to be ceded. Any such resettlement
would have inevitably resulted in internal conflict similar to that raging then—and
now—between the Israclis and those Palestinians who were ousted from their home-
lands by the Zionist movement.
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its eyes, figuratively and literally, to the plight of the unforru-
nate beings who were engulfed.”

Like many Jews, Strauss remained hostile to Zionism all of
his life, but he won the confidence of his colleagues in the Is-
raeli Atomic Energy Commission by publicly joining them in
prayer in Geneva during the 1955 United Nations Conference
on the Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy, at the rime the largest
international scientific conference ever held. More than fifteen
hundred delegates from seventy nations, including Israel,
whose delegation was led by Ernst Bergmann, took part. Moshe
Sharett, then foreign minister, received a full report—as he
noted in a diary entry for September 18, 1955—from a deputy,
who characteristically thought it important to tell Sharett that
at least three hundred of the delegates were Jewish. Despite
that large number, Sharett wrote, when the Jewish community
of Geneva arranged for a special Friday-night service, “present

only were the Israeli delegation [to the conference] and the
head of the U.S. delegation, Admiral Strauss.”

* Neither Strauss nor the CIA’s Dino Brugioni knew it at the time, of course, but
reconnaissance aircraft of the Mediterranean Allied Air Force and the Fifteenth U.S.
Air Force repeatedly overflew and photographed the Nazi crematoriums at Ausch-
witz-Birkenau in Poland in the last year of the war, where rwelve thousand Jews and
gypsies were being murdered daily by 1944. The death camps were about five miles
from an 1.G. Farben synthetic oil and rubber complex that was bombed four times in
World War IL In 1978, Brugioni and Robert Poirier, s CIA colleague, noticed that
the camps were in direct alignment with the reconnaissance path for the Farben
complex. Brugioni knew from his own experiences that reconnaissance cameras were
always turned on well before the target was reached. Were there aerial photos of the
camps buried in Pentagon World War II archives? In a subsequent essay, Brugioni
wrote: “We found that the extermination complex had been photographed at least
thirty times. Analyzing the photographs, we could see the four large complexes of gas
chambers and crematoriums. . . . Bodies were being buried in trenches or burned in
large open pits. Some of the photos showed victims being marched to their deaths,
while others showed prisoners being processed for slave labour.” The photographs
were invaluable as a historical record—the Nazis had forbidden any photography
while the camps were in operation—and President Jimmy Carter personally presented
1 monograph based on them to the President’s Commission on the Holocaust. Dur-
ing the war, Brugioni added, there was no historical or social background thar would
have enabled Air Force photo interpreters, intent on targeting the 1L.G. Farben plant,
to understand what they were seeing: “Anytime a line of people near a building were
seen in a picture, it was usnally labeled ‘mess hall.” " There were other factors thar
prevented a close study of the camp photographs at the time, insisted Brugioni, most
significantly the intense intelligence needs of the June 1944 D-Day invasion of Eu-
rope, which resulted in heavy workloads for all Allied photo interpreters. Allied war-
planes also were attempting to break the back of the Luftwaffe in late 1944 by heavy
raids on all of the syntheric fuel plants in Germany, Brugioni said, creating yet an-
other demand for photo interpretation and bomb damage assessment.

—
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cal of Israel would somehow be delivered within days to the
Israeli embassy in Washington. In 1963 the Kennedy adminis-
tration informally agreed with Israel that neither country
would spy on or conduct espionage activities against the other.
The agreement was sought by American officials, a former
Kennedy aide recalled, in an attempt to limit the extent of Is-
raeli penetration of America.

The truth is that Jews and non-Jews alike looked the other
way when it came to Israel's nuclear capability. The notion of
dual loyalty solely as a Jewish problem is far too narrow; the
Jewish survivors who became Israelis, with their incredible
travails and sufferings during World War II, had and still have
enormous appeal to Americans of all backgrounds. The pri-
mary effect of “dual loyalty” has been a form of self-censorship
that has kept the United States government from dealing ratio-
nally and coherently with the strategic and political issues
raised by a nuclear-armed Israel. The issue is not whether rules
or laws have been broken, but that very few officials who sup-
ported Israel, Jewish or not, have used their position to try to
obtain a complete and accurate picture of the Israeli nuclear
program. And no one tried to stop it. Those few government
bureaucrats in the nonproliferation field who even tried to
learn all there was to learn about Dimona were often accused
of being “zealots”—and thus not fully trustworthy.

Yet, being Jewish inevitably raised questions, even among
the most fair-minded of men. Dino Brugioni briefed Strauss
regularly on U-z nueclear intelligence, but found him inscruta-
ble when it came to information on the Israeli nuclear reactor:
“I never knew what he was thinking; never understood him.
I'd get the reaction ‘That's all right.'” Brugioni had his own
reasons for wondering about Strauss. He knew there was evi-
dence inside the CIA suggesting that American and European
Jews had been directly involved in the financing and construc-
tion of Dimona from the start. “There was a fervor, especially
among New York Jews,” Brugioni added. “The attitude was
‘You had to protect Israel,’ and anybody [in the intelligence
community] who did not suffered.”

In interviews for this book with senior officials of the Ameri-
can nuclear weapons program—men similar to Lewis Strauss,
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who spent part or all of their life making bombs—none ex-
pressed any doubt about Israel’s nuclear ambitions. Most told
of close personal friendships with Israeli physicists who were
working on the Israeli weapons program. No one with the so-
phistication and expertise of Lewis Strauss could have had any
question about the significance of a secret reactor in the Negev.
His widow, Alice, still spry in 1991 at the age of eighty-eight,
acknowledged that her husband, who was very closemouthed
about his worky “would have approved of Israel trying to de-
fend itself. No question of that.” Strauss also had to know that
a Jewish nuclear physicist named Raymond Fox had created
high-level consternation by emigrating to Israel in 1957 from
California, where he had access to weapons design information
at the Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, the nuclear
research facility operated by the University of California for
the Atomic Energy Commission. Fox's secrets could be invalu-
able to the Israelis at Dimona.

Strauss’s failure to discuss Dimona with John McCone may
have been done in the belief that he had an obligation to ensure
that what happened to the Jews of Europe under Hitler could
not happen again. Perhaps he thought he was atoning for what
he did not do, or could not do, to help the Jews of Europe
before World War IL. Similar choices were made over the next
thirty years by Jews and non-Jews in the American govern-
ment, who looked the other way when it came to Dimona.
Were they guilty of a double standard, as Dino Brugioni and
others in the intelligence community suggest? Did Lewis
Strauss, who so eagerly assumed the worst when it came to the
loyalty of men such as J. Robert Oppenheimer, fail to fulfill the
obligations of his office in terms of the known intelligence on
Dimona and his obligation to tell his successor about it?

Many American Jews, perhaps understandably, believe the
question of “dual loyalty” is an issue that should never be
raised in public. They fear that any discussion of Jewish sup-
port for Israel at the expense of the United States would feed
anti-Semitism; the fear seems to be that non-Jews are convinced
that any Jewish support for Israel precludes primary loyalty to
the United States. A second issue, in terms of American Jewish
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nomination by the Democrats, however, Feinberg was con-
tacted by Governor Abraham Ribicoff of Connecticut, who had
v.nnu Kennedy’s floor manager during the Democratic conven-
tion. “I was the only Jew for him,” Ribicoff recalled. “And I
realized that Jews were for anybody but Jack Kennedy. I told
Kennedy I was going to get in touch with Abe Feinberg, who I
n?m_:m_.: was a key Jew. I arranged a meeting [with Nmnn_&ﬁ in
m.nE._ua_.m_m apartment in the Hotel Pierre and we invited all the
_nnn:.._m Jews.” Abourt twenty prominent businessmen and fi-
nanciers showed up.”

.Hn was a rough session. Kennedy had just returned from a
brief vacation at the family compound at Hyannis Port, Massa-
chusetts, and it was a prominent Bostonian, Dewey U‘. Stone
who set the tone with the first question, as recalled by m.niu
berg: :.—.unr. everybody knows the reputation of your father
concerning Jews and Hitler. And everybody knows thar the
apple doesn't fall far from the tree.” Kennedy's response was to
&.n .vomun *You know, my mother was part of that tree, t00.”
Ribicoff, who would join Kennedy's cabinet, ==mnﬂmﬂomx_ nra
message: “The sins of the father shouldn’t fall on the son.”
Fortunately for Kennedy, that message was enough for nmn
men at Feinberg’s apartment. Kennedy had gone upstairs to a
separate room with Ribicoff to await their judgment, Feinberg
recalled. The group agreed on an initial contribution of
$3500,000 to the presidential campaign, with more to come. “I
called him [Kennedy] right away,” said Feinberg. “His iwmnn
broke. He got emotional” with gratitude.

r‘hm_.moa% was anything but grateful the next morning in
anmadgum the session to Charles L. Bartlett, a newspaper col-
umnist and close friend. He had driven to Bartlett’s home in
northwest Washington and dragged his friend on a walk, where
he recounted a much different version of the meeting H_u.n night
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before. “As an American citizen he was outraged,” Bartlett re-
called, “to have a Zionist group come to him and say: ‘We know
your campaign is in trouble. We're willing to pay your bills if
you'll let us have control of your Middle East policy.'” Ken-
nedy, as a presidential candidate, also resented the crudity with
which he'd been approached. “They wanted control,” he an-
grily told Bartlett.

Bartlett further recalled Kennedy promising to himself that
“if he ever did get to be Presidgpt, he was going to do some-
thing about it"—a candidate’s perennial need for money and
resulting vulnerability to the demands of those who contrib-
uted. Kennedy, in fact, kept that promise before the end of his
first year in office, appointing a bipartisan commission in Octo-
ber to recommend ways to broaden “the financial base of our
presidential campaigns.” In a statement that was far more
heartfelt than the public or the press could perceive, he criti-
cized the current method of financing campaigns as “highly
undesirable” and “not healthy” because it made candidates “de-
pendent on large financial contributions of those with special
interests.” Presidential elections, Kennedy declared, were “the
supreme test of the democratic process” in the United States.
Kennedy was ahead of his time, however: the campaign financ-
ing proposals went nowhere.”

It is impossible to reconcile the differing accounts of Ken-
nedy’s attitude toward the meeting in Feinberg's apartment in
the Hotel Pierre. But the fact remains that despite Kennedy’s
tough words to Bartlett, Abe Feinberg's influence inside the
White House was established by the end of Kennedy’s first year
in office, and the young President did little to diminish it over
the next two years. One factor obviously was political: a higher
percentage of Jews (81 percent) voted for Kennedy in 1960 than
did Roman Catholics (73 percent); it was the Jewish vote that
provided Kennedy's marrow plurality of 14,563 votes over

* The commission, headed by Alexander Heard, then dean of the Graduate School
at the University of North Caralina, recommended, among other things, the use of
federal tax credits to encourage political contributions by individuals. The goal was 1o
broaden the base of a candidate’s financial support and reduce dependence on special-
interest groups and the wealthy. In 1962, Kennedy submitted five draft bills to reform
presidential campaign financing ro Congress; none survived. Kennedy tried aguin in
1963, submitting two more draft bills to Congress; again neither survived.

R
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6. Going Public

John Finney was interviewed in Washington on April 18, 1989. The cited
article was “U.S. Hears Israel Moves Toward A-Bomb Potential,” New York
Times, December 19, 1960, page 1. McCone's resignation and TV appearance
were also on page 1 that day: "McCone to Resign as AEC Member.” The cited
Buchwald column (reprinted in part, with his permission) was published
January 10, 1961, in the New York Herald-Tribune, “The Smashing Tailors of
Beersheba.” Walter Elder was interviewed in his suburban Virginia home on
August 18, 1989, and many times by telephone thereafter. Armand Meyer was
interviewed in Rosslyn, Virginia, on June 15, 1990. The cited Herter state-
ment can be found in The Alliance, by Richard J. Barnet (Simon & Schuster,
New York, 1983), page 179. Philip Farley was interviewed in Palo Alto, Califor-
nia, on October 30, 198, Chapman Pincher was interviewed by telephone on
March 8, 1991; the cited article is “Israel May Be Making an A-Bomb,” Lon-
don Daily Express, December 16, 1960, page 2. Myron Kratzer was interviewed
in Washingron in June 1989, and by telephone thereafter. The cited Freedom
of Information documents are in the author’s possession. Christian Herter's
testimony to the Senate Foreign Relations Committee can be found in Vol.
XIII, Part I, of the published Executive Sessions of the Senate Foreign Rela-
tions Committee (Historical Series), made public April 1984.

7. Dual Loyalty

The Strauss biography is No Sacrifice Too Great, by Richard Pfau (Univer-
sity Press of Virginia, Charlottesville, 1984.) There are many accounts of Op-
penheimer's travails before the AEG; see The Oppenbeimer Hearing, by John
Major (Batsford, London, 1971). Strauss's test ban testimony was cited in The
Glory and the Dream, by William Manchester (Little, Brown, Boston, 1973),
page 985 Carl Kaysen was interviewed in Cambridge, Massachuseuts, on No-
vember n, 1980, and thereafter by telephone. William L. Strauss was inter-
viewed by telephone on April 3, 1901 Alice Strauss was interviewed by
telephone on May 6, 1991 Algie Wells was interviewed by telephone on
March 29, 1991

8. A Presidential Scruggle

Abe Feinberg’s role in presidential politics and fund-raising was initially
reported in an unpublished dissertation, “Ethnic Linkage and Foreign Pol-
icy,” by Etta Zablocki, Columbia University, 1083 {available through UMI
dissertation information service, Ann Arbor, Mich.). Similar material was
published in Tbe Lobby, by Edward Tivnan (Simon & Schuster, New York,
1087), and Truman and Israel, by Michael J. Cohen (University of California
Press, Berkeley, 1990). None of the accounts discusses Feinberg’s relationship
with the Isracli nuclear program. Clark Clifford was interviewed about Fein-
berg on April 8, 1ggr. Abraham Ribicoff was interviewed by telephone on
November 5, 1990. Ben Bradlee and Arthur Schlesinger discussed President
Kennedy on April 9, 1go1. Kennedy's comments about campaign financing
were made on October 4, 1961, according to Facts on File. A good account of
Kennedy's efforts on campaign financing can be found in Congremional
Quarterly's “Congress and the Nation 1965-1968," Vol. I, “Political Finances,"
p. 444. Myer Feldman was interviewed in Washington on June 13, 1989, and
many times thereafter. Jerome Weisner was interviewed by telephone on
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June 27, 1991. Robert Komer was interviewed in Washington on April 3, 1989,
and two times thereafter. William Crawford was interviewed in suburban
Maryland on May 3, 1990. Israel's diversion of the Norwegian heavy water
has been thoroughly researched and reported by Gary Milhollin, director of
the Wisconsin Project on Nuclear Arms Control in Washington. Milhollin
was the first to expose the issue, and has been more than generous in sharing
his files and research. The explanarion for the lack of a Shavit I can be found
in “Publicity on Rocket Explained in Israel”” New York Times, June 1o, 1961
Paul Nitze was interviewed on October 9, 1990. Robert McNamara's cryptic
conversation with the author took place on January n, 1991. The more logical
account of why the Israeli Atomic Energy Commission fell apart in the late
19508 was supplied by Yuval Neeman, minister of energy, ina conversation in
Washington on April 15, 1991. Neefan would not discuss any current issues
relating to Israel's nuclear capabilities. Floyd Culler was interviewed on No-
vember 30, 1989, in Palo Alto, California, and later by telephone. Phillips
Talbot was interviewed briefly by telephone on April 8, 1991.

9. Years of Pressure i

The declassified memorandum of the Kennedy talk with Golda Meir is
available from the JFK Library in Boston and also can be found in President
Kennedy's Policy Toward the Arab States and Israel, by Mordechai Gazit (Shiloah
Center for Middle Eastern and African Studies, Tel Aviv University, 1983),
page 108. The Gazit book provides invaluable background on Israeli policy in
the Kennedy period. Much detail about Ben-Gurion's attitude and the history
of that period, it should be noted again, comes from Michael Bar-Zohar's
abridged biography. Daniel Ellsberg was-interviewed in Washington on
March 20, 1989. The most complete summary of Johnson's early ties to Ameri-
can Jews can be found in “Prologue,” by Louis 8. Gomolak, unpublished
doctoral thesis (University of Texas, 1980), available through UMI disserta-
tion information service.

10. The Samson Option

Excellent work on this period has been done by Shlomo Aronson, the
Israeli political scientist and advocate of the deterrent value of Israel's nu-
clear arsenal. Moshe Dayan’s Maariv article was summarized April 13, 1963, in
the New Yark Times, “Israclis Warned on Arms Lag." Ben-Gurion’s letter to
the Times was published November 30, 1963. Theodore Taylor's paper was
entitled “Can Nuclear Weapons Be Developed Without Full Testing?” It was
a lecture given on December i, 1988, ata workshop on Verification of Nuclear
and Conventional Arms Reductions, Robin Brook Centre, St. Bartholomew's
Medical College, London. The text of the lecture, with additional material, is
reproduced in Theodore B. Taylor, “Nuclear Tests and Nuclesr Weapons,”
in Benjamin Frankel, ed., Opague Nuclear Proliferation: Metbodological and Policy
Implications (Frank Cass, London, 1991), pages 175-90. The cited White House
papers are on file at the Lyndon B. Johnson Library in Austin. A number of
books are useful on the background of international control of nuclear en-
ergy. See The International Atomic Energy Agency and World Nuclear Order, by
Lawrence Scheinman (Resources for the Future, Washington, D.C., 1987) and
Nuclear Power Issues and Choices, chaired by Spurgeon M. Keeny, Jr. (Ballinger
Publishing Company, Cambridge, Mass., 1977). For a discussion of the Sam-
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One former Israeli official recalled that his job was to interpret
for the American team. “I was part of the cover-up team. One
of the engineers would start talking too much” in front of the
Americans, the official said, and he would tell him, in seem-
ingly conversational Hebrew, “ ‘Listen, you mother-fucker,
don’t answer that question.’ The Americans would think I was
translating.” .

The Americans were led by Floyd L. Culler, Jr,, a leading
expert in the science of nuclear reprocessing who was then
deputy director of the Chemical Technology Division at the
Oak Ridge National Laboratory in Tennessee, where the first
uranium for American nuclear weapons had been enriched. At
the time, Culler said, he reported to the White House that the
reactor he and his colleagues inspected was nothing more than
a “standard reactor. All the elements were counted and
tagged.” Culler, who retired in 1989 as president of the Electri-
cal Power Research Institute in Palo Alto, California, seemed
surprised but not shocked upon being informed that his team
had been duped by a false control room. “It’s possible to make a
system appear that it's controlling something when it's not,” he
explained, adding that simulated control rooms have been
widely and effectively used for training purposes in reactor
systems worldwide. Culler was far more disturbed to learn that
by 1960 the CIA’s photo interpretation team had concluded that
a site was being excavated at Dimona for a chemical reproces-
sing plant and had even attempted to measure the amount of
dirt being scooped. Such intelligence had not been provided to
him, he said, and should have been.

Culler shrugged off the Israeli cheating as inevitable, but not
necessary. “It's not possible to make archaeological findings
about what was going on just by seeing footprints,” he ex-
plained. “No one really has that much wisdom.” He viewed his
inspection as “part of the game of wearing away, of finding
ways to not reach the point of taking action™ against Israel's
nuclear weapons program. He is not at all convinced today, he
said, that Israel was wrong to develop its own independent
deterrent.

“They were terrified that they’d be bombed,” Culler re-
called. After the first inspection in 1962, he said, “I was asked by
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an Israeli to raise the question” of an American _.Eﬂmnn ””.n
brella upon his return t© Washington. O:.:n—. wrote M MM e
report on the inspection during Stopovers in Athens an . ,H?“.
and dutifully included an account of the ?Em: nm_f.q_nﬁ_u.HW -
CIA “got to me as 5000 as I got off the plane” in ashingt nn.u
he added, and he was rushed into 2 debriefing. ..Edona was g
further talk of nuclear umbrellas on subsequent _vannm:“cuu
and Culler eventually came 10 ask E:ﬁn_.m n_._n following r n_. 4
ical question: Would the United States initiate .E._n_a»m ,_M.umm.:
protect any country in the Middle East, or ;m_.m. mﬂ.l uvhﬁ :w
or Argentina? “We were a | in a bind,” Culler said. M 5
be careful in assigning blame. [t may be a story, but ther

right or wrong.”

The constant bargaining over Dimona was 2 m.unﬂo_. in ch_.:nﬂw
an ambitious Kennedy administration initiative to resolve g
Palestinian refugee issue. Like all American wnnm&n:m ME%»
1948 Kennedy came into office with a belief _&mﬂv he ME m“..__mn
. i Middle East. As a
way to bring long-term peace 1o the !
wsw. Senate member, Kennedy had always been 2 %:E_n M”.M.
porter of Israel, but he had repeatedly expressed un M.nmnwn_. nrm.
of the aspirations of Arab nationalism and sympat ﬂ; M ‘
plight of the Palestinian refugees. Monmuxwaﬂnmr”“ wrnuqnmmmw
19¢8 speech before a Jewish group, he dec are
MWQ%MM “must be resolved through negotiations, _..nmnﬂ”__mswwm_.
and outside international assistance. But to recognize t e ﬂ.:En
lem is quite different from saying that the problem VMm _JNM 4
short of the destruction of Israel . . . or must so y
Israel alone.”

Department Arabists were pleasantly mE.ﬁ._._mnn— early in
wmnnﬂo mwn word from the White House, wono—.m:.-mrnwo”rn:”“w
Meyer, that “just because go percent om. the “_.nfm Lo
gone for Kennedy, it didn’t M:nwn EM ihm MM WMV mwﬂ M:.mmnmn&
nedy asked for innovative ideas, and the g

another try be made to resolve ﬁ?.u Palestinian :
M.__...”Enu. in EMQ West Bank and Gaza mﬂ.ﬂv mﬂnBE:mm MM%WN-
rael’s victory in the 1948-49 Arab-Israeli War. .E.—M. M“mb o
tions had approved Resolution 194 after the War, irecting
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John Kennedy, profoundly committed to the principle
of nonproliferation, continued throughout 1962 to pressure
Ben-Gurion about international inspection and continued to
receive the prime minister’s bland and irritating assurances
that Israel had no intention of becoming an atomic power. The
President was far too politically astute not-to understand, as he
angrily told his friend Charles Bartlett, that the Israeli “sons of
bitches lie to me constantly about their nuclear capability.”
One solution was to help get Ben-Gurion, then embattled in
the most serious crisis of his political career, out of office.

A few days after Christmas 1962, Kennedy made what
amounted to a direct move against the prime minister’s leader-
ship. He invited Foreign Minister Golda Meir, one of Ben-
Gurion’s leading critics inside the cabinet and the Mapai Party,
to his Palm Beach, Florida, home for a seventy-minute private
talk. Meir made no secret of the fact that she resented Ben-
Gurion for permitting his acolytes, Shimon Peres and Moshe
Dayan, to operate behind the back of the foreign ministry; she
and other party members who had been born in Eastern Eu-
rope, such as Levi Eshkol, the treasury minister, were con-
vinced that Ben-Gurion chose to rely on young men such as
Peres and Dayan only because they would be more reluctant to
stand up to him.

The declassified memorandum on the Kennedy-Meir meet-
ing contains no specific mention of nuclear weapons (some
paragraphs were deleted for national security reasons), but
there is little doubt that Kennedy pointedly raised the issue.
The memorandum further shows that Kennedy made an ex-
traordinary private commitment to Israel’s defense. “We are
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asking the cooperation of Israel in the
ooo.vn_..nmnm with Israel to help meet mﬁmnmmﬂ,wwh“”“”mﬁan““
Meir. .~mﬂnn_.&o=vaﬁu thinks of itself as deeply endangered
... Our position in these matters may seem to be asking Hm_.pnm
to nmm_nnn its interests. The reason we do it is not that we are
=Jm3n..u&w to Israel; but in order to help more effectively. I
W_.:nr it is quite clear that in case of an invasion the Guwﬂnﬁ_
: HWMMMMMWE Monmn zw an support of Israel. We have that capac-
wing.” i
e m“. K %_uo ﬂﬂ“..um language no Israeli had ever heard
Emaﬂ.ﬁ later, according to the memorandum, Kennedy—
anticipating the chronic crisis that would be n_.m»ﬂnm b Nr
refugees of the West Bank and Gaza Strip—expressed his _Mmﬁnm
Hrwn.nrn Arab _.nmnﬂ.__wn-nbn plan had failed and said his adminis-
tration E.o:E not give up trying to find some solution to the
wn?mno situation. He added that the United States “is reall
interested in Israel. . . . What we want from Israel arises UM
M“:m_n our relationship is a two-way street. Israel’s security in
U:n_ Mﬂm MMN Mm@n:nm in part on what it does with the Arabs,
. Kennedy’s commitment to Golda Meir, along with hi i
sion to sell the Hawk missiles, amounted .8 M nmﬁﬂ_ﬁﬂ W“_Mwﬂ_uﬂ
American foreign policy toward Israel—one little noted even
today. The Kennedy offer might have been enough, if Israel’s
goal had been to forge a military partnership with the United
States. But Israel's needs were far more basic.

Ho.w.n ZnOc.nn remained agitated about the Israeli bomb and the
m.z_E.n of his agency to determine whether a chemical reproces-
sing plant was buried underground at Dimona. He also was
more oznmm«orn..u than any other Kennedy insider on the issue;
nﬁnwu 1962 E»mr_nmnoz. dinner party he publicly _.mvinn»bmna.

uln.a.. Lucet, a senior French foreign ministry official, for
France’s role in the Israeli bomb. Lucet, who had mn_én.m as
deputy ambassador in Washington in the late 19505 (and would
Unnoﬂ.n. ambassador in 1965), was seated near McCone, who at
one point abruptly asked: “So, Mr. Lucet, your no“Eﬂd. is
UEEEN a reprocessing plant for the Israelis?” Lucer replied
with whatr was France’s public position on the issue: :2% we
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are building a reactor.” McCone then turned his back on Lucet
and did not speak to him for the rest of the evening; it was,
given France’s high standing with the President and his wife,
who were both Francophiles, a pointed rebuff.”

Kennedy was constantly raising the nuclear issue in his dis-

cussions with senior Israelis—and constantly getting boiler-
plate answers. In early April 1963, Shimon Peres flew to the
capital to meet 3t the White House on the still-pending Hawk
sale, and was directly asked by the President about Israeli in-
tentions. An Israeli nuclear bomb, Kennedy said, “would cre-
ate a very perilous situation. That's why we have been diligent
about keeping an eye on your effort in the atomic field. What
can you tell me about that?” Peres’s answer was a fabrication
that would become the official Israeli response for years to
come: “I can tell you forthrightly that we will not introduce
atomic weapons into the region. We certainly won't be the first
to do so. We have no interest in that. On the contrary, our
interest is in de-escalating the armament tension, even in total
disarmament.”

The administration’s lack of specific information about Is-
raeli intentions was complicated by the fact, as the President
had to know, that many senior members of Congress supported
the concept of a nuclear-armed Israel. A few days before his
meeting with the President, Peres had discussed nuclear weap-
ons with Senator Stuart Symington, a Kennedy supporter and
ranking member of the Senate Armed Services Committee, and
had been told, as Peres told his biographer: “Don't be a bunch
of fools. Don't stop making atomic bombs. And don't listen to
the administration. Do whatever you think best.”

Israel was doing just that. The physical plant at Dimona con-
tinued to mature. The reactor went critical—that is, began a
sustained chain reaction—sometime in 1962 with no significant
problems, and was capable of being operated at more than sev-

enty megawatts, far greater than the twenty-four megawatts

* Lucet was offended by McCone's action and, upon his return to Paris, relayed the
incident to Bertrand Goldschmide. “He ssked me if we could separate France from
responsibility for the [Israeli] bomb," Goldschmidr recalled with a laugh. ] said, ‘No.
Not only did we take the girl when she was a virgin, bur we made her pregnant.’

e ——————CEEEE

H
|
|
i
i

1



120 THE SAMSON OPTION

publicly acknowledged by the Ben-Gurion government. Run-
ning the plant hotter would create more plutonium by-product
to be reprocessed, and a larger nuclear weapons stockpile than
any outsider could anticipate. Later that year, the private
French construction companies at Dimona, always eager for
business, began once again to work on the vital chemical
reprocessing plant underground at Dimona—despite de
Gaulle’s insistence that France would have nothing more to do
with the Israeli bomb. The French would build at a furious
pace for the next three years, at high pay, finishing the
reprocessing plant and the elaborate waste treatment and
safety facilities that were essential. French technicians and en-
gineers, who had begun drifting away, were back in force in
Beersheba, whose population was growing steadily (it reached
seventy thousand by 1970).

Israeli and French scientists continued to cooperate at the
French nuclear test site in the Sahara, as the experiments be-
came more weapons-oriented. By late 1961, the French had be-
gun a series of underground tests and were perfecting a series
of miniaturized warheads for use in aircraft and, eventually,
missiles. There were further tests in the early 1960s of a more
advanced Shavit rocket system, with no more public announce-
ments; CIA analysts assumed that the long-range rocket was
meant for military use. And in 1963 Israel paid $100 million to
the privately owned Dassault Company of France, then one of
the world's most successful missile and aircraft firms, for the
joint development and manufacture of twenty-five medium-
range Isracli missiles. It was anticipated that the missile, to be
known to the American intelligence community as the Jeri-
cho I, would be able to deliver a miniaturized nuclear warhead
to targets three hundred miles away.

By spring of 1963, Kennedy’s relationship with Ben-Gurion re-
mained at an impasse over Dimona, and the correspondence
between the two became increasingly sour. None of those let-
ters has been made public.” Ben-Gurion’s responses were being

* The Kennedy exchanges with Ben-Gurion also have not been released to US.
government officials with full clearances who have attempted to write classified histo-
ries of the period. “The culminate result” of such rigid security, one former American
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drafted by Yuval Neeman, a physicist and mnmun.mn ministry in-
telligence officer who was &_.nnn& involved in :”uw nuclear
weapons program. “It was not a friendly exchange, Znnn...un
recalled. “Kennedy was writing like a bully. .HH was v...:nn_. .
The President made sure that the Israeli prime minister paid
for his defiance. In late April, Egypt, Syria, »:.n_ Iraq united to
form the short-lived Arab Federation; such unity was Ben-Gu-
rion's recurring nightmare. He instinctively E.gna to Eum”-
ington, and proposed=in a letter to the wnoman_”: that the
United States and Soviet Union join forces to vcvrn_u‘ declare
the territorial integrity and security of every Zrm.n:n mw%mna
state. “If you can spare an hour or two for a discussion with =.:m
on the situation and possible solutions,” wnn.ﬂcﬂcu. asked, !
am prepared to fly to Washington at your no=<n=..a=.nn umn
without any publicity.” Kennedy rejected .w.n?m_b._o: s offer
of a state visit and expressed “real reservations, unnoqm_mm to
Ben-Gurion's biography, about any joint statement on the issue
with the Soviets. Five days later, a disappointed Ben-Gurion
sent a second note to Kennedy: “Mr. m:.nmma.mnm:. my vuow_n have
the right to exist . . . and this existence 1s 11 ..u_unwan. He wﬂ
quested that the United States sign a security treaty with
Israel. Again the answer was no, and it i.um.n_nn_. to mw..n Mapai
Party that Ben-Gurion's _n»n_n._.mrmv and T_m intractability n.vc.:
Dimona were serious liabilities in ium?:wno.ﬂ... Golda Meir ac-
knowledged to Ben-Gurion's Eomn.avrnn_ We knew about
these approaches. . . . We said nothing, even though we won-
mnwrnn_mni weeks later, on June 16, 1963, wn..u-ﬂs_.mou n@_.svn_.q
resigned as prime minister and defense minister, a:m.wm his
fifteen-year reign as Israel's most mnmcnscu._ _u_.;..rn official.
The many accounts of Ben-Gurion’s _.am_msﬁ..o:._uuﬁ nnn_m
rately described the resurgence of scandal, public ...__mnn.:mr an
polarization that marked his last years. The Lavon .Z.mw:..mnu.a.
ming from the series of pre-Suez War sabotage activities Em_Mn
Egypt, had come by the early 196os t0 dominate much om.nrn
. public agenda inside Israel, as new revelations came to light

official lamented, “is a very poorly informed buresucracy—even if there are people

willing to buck the system and ask tboo questions.”
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with the test ban treaty, whether officially signed or not. The
Bundy memorandum remained fixed in Ellsberg's memory: it
was dated November 22, 1963, the day of Kennedy's assassina-
tion in Dallas, Texas.

Kennedy’s successor, Lyndon Johnson, like many Vice Presi-
dents, had been left in the dark on sensitive national security
issues by the President and his top aides. “Johnson went ber-
serk upon being briefed in by the Agency,” a former high-level
American intelligence official recalled. “He didn’t know any-
thing about the problem and he cursed Kennedy for cutting
him out.”*

Johnson's ties to Israel were strong long before he became
President. Two of his closest advisers, lawyers Abe Fortas
(later named to the Supreme Court) and Edwin L. Weisl, Sr.
while not particularly religious, felt deeply about the unn:aa“
of Israel. Johnson also had known of Abe Feinberg and his
fund-raising skills since the Truman years; Feinberg was
among those who had raised money for Johnson's successful
1948 campaign for the Senate.

the United States by the carly 196os for its strategic nuclear delivery vehi

that existed into the carly 1990s.) The Kennedy ”Mnﬂmimﬂn:a: Mu._-.n.m:n“_w””nmwan 2”».—.““
the French on nuclear issues. Secretary of Defense Robert McNamara, n:nﬂ.ﬂwuﬂn at
France's nuclear independence and its conrinued testing in the m&_u_..u. went on a
public campaign in 1962 against the foree de frappe. In a famous spring commencement
address at the C_..?.nqmmn.. of Michigan (in which he announced that the United States
was moving away in jts targeting from massive retaliation to limited nuclear war),
MeNamara criticized “weak national nuclear forces™ as being “dangerous, nnﬂnﬁmqn.
prone w obsolescence, and lacking in credibility as a deterrent.” Instead _wn maummqon.
the nations of Europe should buy American arms and rockets to build up their conven-
“__o_m_n_ qnohaﬂ and _mu the United States handle the issue of nuclear deterrence. He had

elivered essentially the same message a few weeks earlier in At i
nn,Q,-E_n. but America’s NATO allies. *. . . [A]ll the allies ._”qw “M-n_wnu..nuumuhm.mﬂewmﬂﬂ
Minister Harold Macmillan wrote in his diary, “with the American mqouoﬂ_ that we
should buy rockets to the tune of umpteen million dollars, the warheads to be under
American n.o:ﬂ.c_. This is not a European rocket. It's a racket of the American indus-
uwy. . .. It's qunr.n_. sad, because the Americans (who are naive and inexperienced) are
up against centuries of diplomatic skill and finesse.” Continued U.S. opposition to the
.ﬁ”ﬂ.ﬂw \.E.E_J. was onec reason for de Gaulle's 1966 decision to remove France from
s military organization and evict N i ili
Facilities from .-“.Wnunm».niao__.w. i
..._arﬂon similarly had been excluded from the intense meeti i i
n_E.S.n the Cuban missile crisis the year before, and it was left to __ﬂm_ua-bﬂ%o_ﬂnnu.“.w”m
the <_.nn President about the issue just hours before it was to be made public. “Johnson
was pissed," McCone later told Walt Elder, and, “harrumphing and belching,” threat-
HM% a%. un_n ﬂ.v_vo__” E.M vﬁ&mgm%a mﬂwo issue if the Senate leadership did not. McCone
red the Vice President thar the Senate was i i i
placated Vice President reversed course. e e

(R
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There was a much deeper link, however, that had nothing to
do with campaign funds: Johnson had visited the Nazi concen-
tration camp at Dachau while on a congressional fact-finding
trip at the end of World War IL His wife, Lady Bird, told a
Texas historian years after Johnson's death that he had re-
turned “just shaken, bursting with overpowering revulsion and
incredulous horror at what he had seen. Hearing about it is one
thing, being there is another.” There are no photographs of the
visit, but Johnson's congressional archives contain a full set of
U.S. Army photos taken two days after the liberation of the
death camp on April 30, 1945. ™

Johnson’s sensitivity to the plight of European Jews had be-
gun even before World War 1T when, as a young congressman
from Texas, he was urged by Jewish supporters in his home
district to cut through Washington's red tape and get asylum in
America for German refugees running for their lives. Once the
refugees got into the country, Johnson had worked hard to
keep them in, and his congressional files show that Erich Leins-
dorf, the eminent conductor, was among those whose deporta-
tion Johnson had prevented. Leinsdorf had made a stunning
American debut with New York's Metropolitan Opera in 1938,
but was scheduled to be deported late in the year when his six-
month visa was up. Deportation to Austria after the Nazi An-
schluss in Vienna meant slow death in a concentration camp.
Johnson won the respect and the financial backing of the Jew-
ish community in Texas by taking on the Leinsdorf case, and
others, and finding a way to circumvent the rules.”

President Johnson stayed loyal to his old friends. Five weeks
after assuming office, he dedicated a newly constructed Austin
synagogue, Agudas Achim, as a favor to James Novy, a long-
time Texas political ally and Zionist leader who was chairman
of the building committee. He was the first American Presi-
dent to do so, yet only a few newspapers took note of the event.
In his introduction, Novy, once the Southwest regional chair-

* Jews in Europe found it extremely difficult in the 1930s to get visas for the United
States, although American immigration quotas went unfilled. Berween 1933 and 1938, for
example, only 17,000 German Jews were granted entry visas to the United States, far
less than the 129,875 permissible under the quotas. More on Johnson's early role in
support of Jews can be found in “Prologue: LB]'s Foreign Affairs Background,” an
unpublished 98¢ University of Texas doctoral thesis by Louis S. Gomolak.
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John Kennedy, profoundly committed to the principle
of nonproliferation, continued throughout 1962 t© pressure
Ben-Gurion about international inspection and continued to
receive the prime minister’s bland and ifritating assurances
that Israel had no intention of becoming an atomic power. The
President was far too politically astute not to understand, as he
angrily told his friend Charles Bartlett, that the Israeli “sons of
bitches lie to me constantly about their nuclear capability.”
One solution was to help get Ben-Gurion, then embartled in
the most serious crisis of his political career, out of office.

A few days after Christmas 1962, Kennedy made what
amounted to a direct move against the prime minister’s leader-
ship. He invited Foreign Minister Golda Meir, one of Ben-
Gurion's leading critics inside the cabinet and the Mapai Party,
to his Palm Beach, Florida, home for a seventy-minute private
talk. Meir made no secret of the fact that she resented Ben-
Gurion for permitting his acolytes, Shimon Peres and Moshe
Dayan, to operate behind the back of the foreign ministry; she
and other party members who had been born in Eastern Eu-
rope, such as Levi Eshkol, the treasury minister, Were con-
vinced that Ben-Gurion chose t0 rely on young men such as
Peres and Dayan only because they would be more reluctant to
stand up to him.

The declassified memorandum on the Kennedy-Meir mect-
ing contains no specific mention of nuclear weapons (some
paragraphs were deleted for national security reasons), but
there is little doubt that Kennedy pointedly raised the issue.
The memorandum further shows that Kennedy made an ex-
traordinary private commitment to Israel’s defense. “We are
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sking the cooperation of Israel in the same way that we are
voperating with Israel to help meet its needs,” Kennedy told
feir. “Israel doubtless thinks of itself as deeply endangered.

. . Our position in these matters may seem o be asking Israel
o neglect its interests. The reason we do it is not that we are
infriendly to Israel; but in order to help more effectively. I
hink it is quite clear that in case of an invasion the United
jtates would come to the support of Israel. We have that capac-
ty and it is growing.” It was language no Israeli had ever heard
‘rom Dwight Eisenhower.

Moments later, according to the memorandum, Kennedy—
inticipating the chronic crisis that would be created by the
refugees of the West Bank and Gaza Strip—expressed his regret
that the Arab resettlement plan had failed and said his adminis-
tration would not give up trying to find some solution to the
refugee situation. He added that the United States “is really
interested in Israel. . . . What we want from Israel arises be-
cause our relationship is a two-way street. Israel’s security in
the long run depends in part on what it does with the Arabs,
but also on us.”

Kennedy’s commitment to Golda Meir, along with his deci-
sion to sell the Hawk missiles, amounted to a turning point in
American foreign policy toward Israel—one little noted even
‘today. The Kennedy offer might have been enough, if Israel’s
goal had been to forge a military partnership with the United
States. But Israel’s needs were far more basic.

John McCone remained agitated about the Israeli bomb and the
failure of his agency to determine whether a chemical reproces-
sing plant was buried underground at Dimona. He also was
more outspoken than any other Kennedy insider on the issue;
at a 1962 Washington dinner party he publicly reprimanded
Charles Lucet, a senior French foreign ministry official, for
France’s role in the Israeli bomb. Lucet, who had served as
deputy ambassador in Washington in the late 1950s (and would
become ambassador in 1965), was seated near McCone, who at
one point abruptly asked: “So, Mr. Lucet, your country is
building a reprocessing plant for the Israelis?” Lucet replied
with what was France's public position on the issue: “No, we
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are building a reactor.” McCone then turned his back on Lucet
and did not speak to him for the rest of the evening; it was,
given France's high standing with the President and his wife,
who were both Francophiles, a pointed rebuff.”

Kennedy was constantly raising the nuclear issue in his dis-
cussions with senior Israelis—and constantly getting boiler-
plate answers. In early April 1963, Shimon Peres flew to the
capital to meet at the White House on the still-pending Hawk
sale, and was directly asked by the President about Israeli in-
tentions. An Israeli nuclear bombg Kennedy said, “would cre-
ate a very perilous situation. That’s why we have been diligent
about keeping an eye on your effort in the atomic field. What
can you tell me about that?” Peres’s answer was 2 fabrication
that would become the official Israeli response for years to
come: “I can tell you forthrightly that we will not introduce
atomic weapons into the region. We certainly won't be the first-
to do so. We have no interest in that. On the contrary, our
interest is in de-escalating the armament tension, even in total
disarmament.”

The administration’s lack of specific information about Is-
raeli intentions was complicated by the fact, as the President
had to know, that many senior members of Congress supported
the concept of a nuclear-armed Israel. A few days before his
meeting with the President, Peres had discussed nuclear weap-
ons with Senator Stuart Symington, a Kennedy supporter and
ranking member of the Senate Armed Services Committee, and
had been told, as Peres told his biographer: “Don’t be a bunch
of fools. Don't stop making atomic bombs. And don’t listen to
the administration. Do whatever you think best.”

Israel was doing just that. The physical plant at Dimona con-
tinued to mature. The reactor went critical—that is, began a
sustained chain reaction—sometime in 1962 with no significant
problems, and was capable of being operated at more than sev-
enty megawatts, far greater than the twenty-four megawatts

* Lucet was offended by McCone's action and, upon his rerurn to Paris, relayed the
incident to Bertrand Goldschmidr, “He asked me if we could separate France from
responsibility for the [Israeli] bomb,” Goldschmidt recalled with @ lsugh. “I said, "No.
Not only did we take the girl when she was a virgin, but we made her pregnant.””
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man of the Zionist Organization of America, looked at the
President and said, “We can't ever thank him enough for all
those Jews he got out of Germany during the days of Hitler.”
Lady Bird Johnson later explained: “Jews have been woven
into the warp and woof of all his years.”

Lyndon Johnson was quickly consumed by the Vietnam War,
and what he saw as the struggle of a small democratic nation
ww&:mﬁ the forces of Communism. But Israel likewise was per-
nn_.qnm as a besieged democracy standing up to the Soviet
H.::ou and its clients in the Arab world. Johnson's strong emo-
tional ties to Israel and his belief that Soviet arms were altering
the balance of power in the Middle East drove him to become
the first American President to supply Israel with offensive
weapons and the first publicly to commit America to its de-
fense. The American Jewish community eventually would be
torn apart by Johnson’s continued prosecution of the Vietnam
War, with many Jewish leaders insisting that Johnson's
steadfast support of Israel entitled him to loyalty on Vietnam
while others continued to oppose the war on principle. .
In the early years of his presidency, however, Johnson ech-
oed Kennedy’s policy by urging Israel to submit Dimona to
International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) inspection. His
support for nonproliferation and his desire to end the Cold War
were motivated by his belief that only by a relaxing of interna-
tional tensions could he achieve his ultimate goal—the exten-
sion of the New Deal to all Americans. A nuclear Israel was
unacceptable: it could mean a nuclear Egypt, increased Soviet
involvement in the Middle East, and perhaps war.

il e
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Levi Eshkol's mom_.tiuw to find a middle ground be-
tween the White House, with its insistence on international
inspections, and the pro-nuclear faction of the Mapai Party, led
by David Ben-Gurion, who, from retirement, turned his
insistence on an Israeli nuclear arsenal into a political Last
Hurrah. .

The prime minister's dilemma was not whether to go nu-
clear, but when and at what cost, in terms of the competing
need to equip and train the conventional units of the army,
navy, and air force.

The debate over the nuclear option had surfaced in the na-
tion’s newspapers, in deliberately innocuous language, long be-
fore Eshkol took office, In mid-1962, for example, Shimon Peres
and former army chief of staff Moshe Dayan, then Ben-Gu-
rion’s minister of agriculture, took advantage of the funeral of a
prominent Zionist military leader to warn their peers that Is-
rael's existence was linked to the “technological achievements
of the 1970s” and investment in “equipment of the future.” In
April 1963, Dayan wrote an article for Maariv, the afternoon
newspaper, urging the Israeli arms industry to keep pace with
Egyptian President Gamal Abdel Nasser’s effort to build nu-
clear weapons. “In the era of rockets with conventional and
unconventional warheads,” Dayan wrote, “we must diligently.
develop those weapons so that we don’t lag.”

Ben-Gurion was even more explicit in an interview with col-
umnist C. L. Sulzberger of the New York Times five months after
leaving office. Sulzberger quoted Ben-Gurion’s concern about a
rocket-armed Egypt and added: “As a result he [Ben-Gurion]
hints grimly that in its nearby Dimona reactor Israel itself may
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more efficient warhead designs. There was a second compelling
argument, along with the issue of money, for temporarily lim-
iting the work at Dimona to research: Israel as yet had no
long-range aircraft or missiles in place that were capable of
accurately delivering a bomb to targets inside the Soviet
Union, which was always Israel’s primary nuclear target; no
Arab nation would dare wage war against Israel, so the Israeli
leadership thought, without Soviet backing.

Levi Eshkol parlayed the Midrasha decision into a strategic
asset: he told Washington that he would defer a decision on the
nuclear arsenal in retuth for a commitment to supply offensive
arms that would match the quality of arms being supplied to
Egypt by the Soviet Union. It was more than good enough for
Johnson, who was losing interest with each passing year in
waging political war with Israel over the bomb. The President
rewarded Eshkol's pledge of a delay by authorizing the sale to
Israel in 1966 of forty-eight advanced A-4E Skyhawk tactical
fighters, capable of carrying 2 payload of eight thousand
pounds. Johnson's refusal to ask more of the Israelis on the
auclear issue was eased by the strong evidence of renewed So-
viet economic and military commitments in the Middle East:
Moscow was moving to encourage Arab socialism and unity.
For Johnson, this meant that the Cold War was moving to the
Arab world, with Israel serving as a surrogate for America.

Eshkol's decision to put a hold on the nuclear issue enraged
Ben-Gurion, still smarting over the Mapai Party’s handling of
the Lavon Affair; Ben-Gurion eventually would publicly com-
pare Eshkol to Neville Chamberlain, the British prime minis-
ter who attempted to appease Adolf Hitler before World War
1L In June 1965, Ben-Gurion, talking darkly of Eshkol’s “endan-
gering the nation’s security,” dramatically resigned from the
Mapai Party and created a new party, known as Rafi (an acro-
nym for the Israel Workers' List). He was joined by a reluctant
but loyal Peres, who became Rafi’s power broker, and the rest-
less Dayan, who had recently resigned as agricultural minister.
Ben-Gurion’s hope was that Rafi could capture as many as
twenty-five seats in the 1zo-member Knesset and emerge as a
major power broker in Israeli politics.




‘. ﬁaar Jerry, 1/18/93

T've read absut a fifth of Hersh's The Samson Option. 1t is impressive and well--
wrjtten, predictable for him. It is also dishonest, the reason I write you about it. I
do not know whether you've read it and if you have not, w_bdﬁ:er you'ébl have the time to '
read it critically. I did not begin that way but the farthur I got into it the more
apparent it was to me that he intended a one-sided account of what i presume is true,
that Israel has the bomb. '

Afger reading this much of the bk I realized that he has been without any explanation
of why Israel believed it required the bomb, with a single, passing mention that can be
taken 'hhatéﬁ;y. This was Ike's failure to respond to BenGurion's request that Israel be
included under the US nuclear shield.

Along with the absence of any presentation of Israeli justification of préceading with
the bomb is an absence of any presentation of what, militarily and politically, Israel
faced, pmrticularly when it was so much weakker than it now ise

He can be excused, if one stretched, for not have a chapter on this, but I do not ex~
fuse it and believe that both fairness and honesty required it. Otherwise the book is
polished propaganda, not a full and dependsble accounts

Bafore Truman was elected, when I was still doing radio news at what became WGMS,

I recall clearly that Bgypt was importing all the nazi scientists it could get for mili- i
tary projects. Of these I am clear in my recollection of missiles. 1'

Iraq's hostility to Lsrael is well-known, even historic. Did not Israel have to regard
itself qs a potential target of Iragi atomic or nuclear bombs?

Until Camp David, as he does not mention, the entire Muslim world was in a state of
war with Israel. Those agreements led t6 Ixrme Egypt's recognition of ghe State of Israel.
I‘f&s the only kuslim country to recognize that state and the only a% not o have presisted
in a state of war with Israel. Ther/ﬁave as their continuing policy wiping the state of
Israel out. Now these are things I not only did not read where they belong in sich a book,
up £rent, I also checked thefindex.Under PLO the index has three mentions only, 868 with
any subject ifidicateds I just thought to check the index far Arafat. Not there!

oW this is not that large a book that a few pages could not have been added in fair-
ness and in honesty ié he had intended either. A

So we have a book that is critical of Israel for daveloping the bemb that does not
tell the redder why Israel deciddd to develop the bomh. Nor what the international attitude
toward it is, as reflocted at the UN. Nor why the enormous expenditurep was investted in
devekoping tne bomb at the cost of so many urgent needs that could not be met and at the
cost of fantsatic indebtedihess.

There can be legitimate disagreements over what has to be included in siich a book



. what might hot be. My own view is that on auch.‘}ﬁ%ubject all that within reason can
be intef preted as relevant should be included. '

One that I believe he should not have overlooked I realize others may regard differ—
eMtly, but it gets to the énvironment of Ispael's belief it needed the bogb,

&fter all the wars the Arabs lost, when as the simple price for US recognition of -
the PLO it asked for only a statement that it recognized the right of the State of Is:ljal
to live in peace within secure borders, the PLY itself rejectad this through its emcuti"ﬁ y
council but Arafat, under heavy  pressure, tended to. §e did note He coulﬁuﬁave been
more overtly evasive and refus:llg the iss u}\&hc sféﬁSﬁent— which still would not have been
binding on the FLO, ng_t_l_c_t_u_gl sta,“:ement the US admihistration grabbed and interpreted as
recognizing Israel did not. He did not mention the State of Isg‘al. He spoke only of the
"people" of Israel. That is deliberately not recognizing the r:lght of the ib_aj:e_ to libe in

pesce, as the world pretended., And he soon blew that by refusing to condemn a PLO terrorist
attack in which it got caughte.

To most of the remders thege ﬁaots and so many more like them will be unlmown and tlms
from the approach he /éken nid Izeca.'].l from reviews and commentaries they will be made to
have anti-lsrael feelingz and at‘bitudes or they will have these attitudes reinforoed.

Iarael did not take the Iragi nuclear plant out until 6/81, long. long after it was
clear that -i—‘b’ 25 aiming at the bomb and that in this much of the world had to have hmpmd
helped it, the world that sits in judgement of Israel on its bomb. Of course also the part
of the world that pretended ignorance of what Iraq was up to while helping it do it.

J"c was not long before the world was deeply indebted to the Isrselis for ending the
feugm bomb threat from Iraq. Which gives every indication of persisting ik it a%t all and
very conshderable costs., Including at this very minute. _

What do you think the situation, especially our situation, would have been if Saddam
had that bimb to use during the gulf war?

I,{(re mentioned nothing about the other Muslim arms proliferation, all of which Israel
has to consider is available for use against it-by states that persist in non—raco@ition
and in a state of war. Nothing about the Muslim CBW capabilities, some rather well imown. H
But these dangers to Israel deserve no mention in such a book? The other efforts against it,
like trying to rhin Isrsel economically? )

If the state were not Israel and if the Muslims did not monopolize the world'S enerﬁy
suppligs I think there would be an entirely different reaotion. Witesss India and Pakistan,
China gn North Korea. 4nd suspects, like South Africa, And the current situation in which
for all practical purposes the f‘?uslim world is silent about Irgq and what Saddam has been
and is now doinge Including in challenging the UN and not living up to the agreement to
which he did agree to end the gulf war,...Hersh did not begin with honest intentions and

vehat he evolved is not honest. ?t is propaganda. (]Zf(/(/f j/



